### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED THOMAS D. HALL

MAY 0 3 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. <u>Sco-902</u> 5 DCA Case No. 5D99-1264

DOMINA TRAVIS,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

# PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar # 618550
444 Seabreeze Blvd.
Fifth Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Travis appealed the denial of his motion to dismiss the information charging him with trafficking in Oxycodone, a controlled substance described in subsection 893.03(2), Florida Statutes (1997). Travis v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D503 (Fla. 5th DCA February 25, 2000). The Oxycodone was contained in thirty Roxicet tablets that he obtained from a pharmacy by presenting a false prescription. Id.

The district court first found that Oxycodone is a Schedule II substance, the possession of four or more grams of which subjects one to prosecution pursuant to the trafficking statute. *Id.* The court then went on to find that because the Roxicet tablets contained only .15 gram of Oxycodone, Travis could not have been in violation of the trafficking statute. *Id.* The district court noted that the trail court had been without the benefit of *Hayes v.* State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S467 (Fla. October 7, 1999), and reversed the denial of the motion to dismiss the trafficking charge.

### CERTIFICATE OF FONT

The undersigned hereby certifies that this brief is submitted in Courier New, 12 point font, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the district court expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decisions in Hayes, supra and Overstreet v. State, 629 So.2d 125 (Fla. 1993). Travis was charged with trafficking in Oxycodone, which is a Schedule II substance. The drug trafficking statute prohibits the possession of four grams or more of any Schedule II drug, or four grams or more of any mixture containing such substance. Since Travis was in possession of four grams or more of a mixture containing a Schedule II substance, he is subject to the drug trafficking statute.

#### ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN HAYES V. STATE AND OVERSTREET V. STATE.

Under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), this Court may review any decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law. In Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986), this Court held that the only facts relevant to the decision to accept or reject petitions for review are those facts contained within the four corners of the majority decision; neither the dissenting opinion nor the record may be used to establish jurisdiction. The State respectfully contends that the decision below conflicts with this Court's decisions in Hayes v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S467 (Fla. October 7, 1999), and Overstreet v. State, 629 So.2d 125 (Fla. 1993).

In Hayes, this Court conducted an exhaustive analysis of Florida's drug trafficking statute in conjunction with the statute describing which schedules various controlled substances fall under. §§ 893.03 and 893.135, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1996). The Court's analysis involved a determination of legislative intent, which it ascertained from the language of the statute, pursuant to Overstreet, supra. The Court found that, by its plain language, the drug trafficking statute prohibits the possession of four grams

or more of any Schedule I or Schedule II drug or four or more grams of any mixture containing such substance. It then concluded

that the statute must be read strictly with the focus on the term 'such,' which restricts the phrase 'any mixture,' by referring back to the restrictive phrase 'as described in s. 893.03(b) [Schedule I] or (2)(a) [Schedule II].' Thus, a close reading of the statutory language reveals that 'such mixture' applies only to mixtures containing Schedule I or II substances.

In sum, section 893.13, Florida Statutes, prohibits the unlawful possession of any Schedule II drug or any mixture containing a Schedule II drug.

Travis was charged with trafficking in Oxycodone. It is undisputed, and the district court specifically found, that Oxycodone is a Schedule II substance, the possession of four or more grams of which subjects one to punishment pursuant to the trafficking statute. However, the district court then overlooked the plain language of the statute, which also prohibits the possession of four grams or more of any mixture containing such substance, and found that Travis could not be in violation of the drug trafficking statute, \$893.135(1)(c)1, Fla. Stat. (1997). Contrary to the district court's holding, the fact that the "mixture" in this case, the Roxicet tablets, contain only .15 grams of Oxycodone, does not and cannot convert this Schedule II substance into a Schedule III substance, as was the case with the Hydrocodone in Hayes, supra.

This can best be illustrated by using this Court's language in

Hayes, and substituting the facts in this case. There, the Court stated "[i]f the Lorcet tablets that Hayes possessed are properly classified as Schedule II substances, Hayes would be subject to a minimum mandatory term of imprisonment of twenty-five years and a mandatory fine of \$500,000." Id. Here, if the Roxicet tablets that Travis possessed are Schedule II substances, Travis would be subject to a mandatory minimum term of imprisonment of twenty-five years and a mandatory fine of \$500,000. Because section 893.135(1)(c)1 prohibits the unlawful possession of any mixture containing a Schedule II drug, Hayes, supra, that section applies to Travis' case, and Travis is subject to prosecution under the trafficking statute.

## CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument and authority, petitioner respectfully requests this Honorable Court to accept jurisdiction in this case.