## ORIGINAL

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA FILED THOMAS D. HALL

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

Sth DCA Case No. 5D99-1264

vs.

Supreme Court Case No. SC00-902

DOMINA TRAVIS,

Respondent.

## APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

## RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

THOMAS J. LUKASHOW ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0871389 112 Orange Ave., Suite A Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

##

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent appealed the denial of his motion to dimiss the information charging him with trafficking in Oxycodone, a controlled substance described in subsection 893.03(2), Florida Statutes (1997). <u>Travis v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D503 (Fla. 5th DCA February 25, 2000). The Oxycodone was contained in thirty Roxicet tablets in possession of the Respondent.

The court found that because the Roxicet tablets contained only .15 grams of Oxycodone, Travis could not have been in violation of the trafficking statute. The district court noted that the trial court had been without the benefit of Hayes v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S467 (Fla. October 7, 1999), and reversed the denial of the motion to dismiss the trafficking charge.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The decision of the district court does not conflict with this court's decision in <u>Hayes</u>, <u>supra</u>. The controlled substance in <u>Hayes</u> was found to be a Schedule II and Schedule III controlled drug. The decision of the district court involved a controlled substance which is not a Schedule II and Schedule III drug.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF THIS COURT.

This Court has jurisdiction under Article V, Section (3)(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution only where a decision of a district court "expressly and directly conflicts" with a decision of this Court or another district court. Additionally, this Court has held that such conflict must be express and direct and "it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986)

The Petitioner argues in its Brief on Jurisdiction that the decision of the Fifth District Court conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>Hayes v. State</u>, 750 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1999).

The Respondent respectfully disagrees. In <u>Hayes</u>, this Court held that because the hydrocodone contained in Lorcet tablets is both a schedule II and Schedule III substance it was not subject to Section 893.135(1)(c)1, Fla. Statutes (1997) (the drug trafficking statute) However, the decision of the Fifth District did not address Lorcet tablets but rather Roxicet tablets containing Oxycodone which is not a Schedule II and III substance. Thus, this Court's decision does not expressly and directly conflict with the opinion of the Fifth District. Moreover, Petitioner's

Motion for Rehearing / Motion for Rehearing Em Banc which asserted that the Fifth District Court misapprehended <u>Hayes</u> was denied. (Appendix A and B) Clearly, no express and direct conflict exists between this Court's decision in <u>Hayes</u> and the decision of the Fifth District Court.

In Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1958), this Court held:

We have heretofore pointed out that under the constitutional plan the powers of this Court to review decision of the district courts of appeal are limited and strictly prescribed... It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts... To fail to recognize that these are courts primarily of final appellate jurisdiction and to allow such courts to become intermediate courts of appeal would result in a condition far more detrimental to the general welfare and the speedy and efficient administration of justice than that which the system was designed to remedy.

Because the Fifth District Court is a court of final appellate jurisdiction and given the very limited and restricted basis for this Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction based upon conflict, it cannot be said that Petitioner has established good cause for the exercise of that jurisdiction.

## respectfully requests this Court to decline jurisdiction in this case.

Respectfully submitted,

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

THOMAS J. LUKASHOW

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

FLORIDA BAR NO. 0871389

112 Orange Avenue, Suite A

Daytona Beach, FL 32114

Phone: 904/252-3367

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT